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Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs and International Development

Tuesday, May 16, 2023

● (1100)

[English]
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis (Sherwood Park—Fort

Saskatchewan, CPC)): Good morning, colleagues. It's 11 o'clock.

Welcome to meeting number 66 of the Standing Committee on
Foreign Affairs and International Development.

I intend to dispense with the usual reading of the hybrid rules.

Pursuant to the order of reference of Monday, February 13, 2023,
the committee is resuming consideration of Bill S-8.

I'm very pleased to welcome officials from various departments.
They are going to be supporting our consideration at the clause-by-
clause stage. If members are interested, I can review the rules
around clause-by-clause, but I'm also happy to dispense with those,
given that we've dealt with clause-by-clause fairly recently.

Is there any member who wishes us to review the clause-by-
clause rules?

Hon. Robert Oliphant (Don Valley West, Lib.): I would like it
because it was a little bit shaky the last time.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): That's okay, Mr.
Oliphant. I will go through those.

As the name indicates, this is an examination of—
Ms. Heather McPherson (Edmonton Strathcona, NDP): Ex‐

cuse me. I'd like to request the floor, Mr. Genuis.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Ms. McPherson, is it a

point of order?
Ms. Heather McPherson: I'd like to request the floor to move a

motion, please.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): We're doing clause-by-

clause on Bill S-8 right now, so unless it's a point of order, I'll be
proceeding.

Ms. Heather McPherson: I will take a point of order then. I
would like to move a motion to resume debate on the motion I
brought forward on Thursday, May 11, the motion that was dis‐
tributed on Thursday, April 20.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): I'm sorry, Ms. McPher‐
son. You can't move a motion on a point of order, so I'll proceed.

Ms. Heather McPherson: I asked for the floor. I would like the
floor so that I can move that motion, please, Mr. Chair.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you for express‐
ing that, Ms. McPherson. We have an agenda for this meeting,
which is clause-by-clause of Bill S-8.

I will call each clause successively, and each clause is subject to
debate and a vote. If there is an amendment to the clause in ques‐
tion, I will recognize the member proposing it, who may explain it.
The amendment will then be open for debate. When no further
members wish to intervene, the amendment will be voted on.
Amendments will be considered in the order in which they appear
in the bill or in the package each member received from the clerk.

There is an additional amendment from our friends in the Bloc
this morning, so just take note of that. That will be considered, as
well, in due course.

Members should note that the amendments must be submitted in
writing to the clerk of the committee. Each amendment has been
given an alphanumeric number in the top right corner to indicate
which party submitted it. There is no need for a seconder to move
an amendment. Once an amendment is moved, you will need unani‐
mous consent to withdraw it.

During debate on an amendment, members are permitted to
move subamendments. These subamendments must be submitted in
writing. They do not require the approval of the mover of the
amendment. Only one subamendment may be considered at a time,
and that subamendment cannot be amended. When a subamend‐
ment to an amendment is moved, it is voted on first. Then another
subamendment may be moved, or the committee may consider the
main amendment and vote on it.

Once every clause has been voted on, the committee will vote on
the title and on the bill itself. Finally, the committee will have to or‐
der the chair to report the bill to the House. That report contains on‐
ly the text of any adopted amendments, as well as an indication of
any deleted clauses.

Those are the clause-by-clause rules.

I will now proceed to call clause 1.

(Clause 1 agreed to)

(Clauses 2 to 4 inclusive agreed to)

(On clause 5)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): We're now on clause 5,
for which I believe there is an amendment.

We'll start with G-1.
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Mr. Oliphant, go ahead, please.
Hon. Robert Oliphant: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

As I noted during our discussion on the bill, there is a coordinat‐
ing amendment that we feel would be required because of the pre‐
vious passing of another Senate bill that affects the same area of
this bill.

I would move that Bill S-8, in clause 5, be amended by replacing
lines 33 and 34 on page 2 with the following:

5 (1) Paragraph 35(1)(c) of the Act is repealed.
(1.1) Subsection 35(1) of the Act is amended by adding “or” at the end of para‐
graph (b) and by repealing paragraphs (d) and (e).

That is the amendment. It is meant to be a technical coordinating
amendment, on the advice of legislative counsel.
● (1105)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you, Mr.
Oliphant.

I want to note that if G-1 is adopted CPC-1 cannot be moved.

Mr. Epp.
Mr. Dave Epp (Chatham-Kent—Leamington, CPC): Thank

you, Mr. Chair.

I have a question for clarification at this point.

I note that CPC-1 and G-1, I believe, are trying to correct the
same omission, and I'll give credit to Mr. Hoback's office for dis‐
covering this.

I have a question to Mr. Oliphant.

Is paragraph 35(1)(c.1) remaining or being repealed? To me, that
is the section that refers back to the coordinating amendment from
S-223 and refers to section 240.1 of the Criminal Code and must re‐
main. Is it clear that it is being retained in Bill S-8?

Hon. Robert Oliphant: I'm going to turn to the law clerk on that
one.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): You didn't have the
floor, but we'll go the law clerk, please, or the officials if that's
more appropriate.

Mr. Stephen Burridge (Director, Sanctions Policy and Opera‐
tions Coordination, Department of Foreign Affairs, Trade and
Development): I'll ask Scott Nesbitt to take that.

Mr. Scott Nesbitt (General Counsel, Department of Justice,
Legal Services Unit, Canada Border Services Agency): The pro‐
posed amendment is to retain the new paragraph 35(1)(c.1) to avoid
the inadvertent repeal of that provision.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Is there further discus‐
sion on amendment G-1?

Mr. Epp, did you want to speak?
Mr. Dave Epp: It's just a comment and you can rule me out of

order, Mr. Chair.

I'm a little surprised that this omission made it this far. We're in
committee after having gone through the Senate so I'm not quite
sure. I'm still relatively new to this game. I'm wondering how this

omission came about? It's more of a question of ignorance on my
part.

Hon. Robert Oliphant: My understanding is that it's fairly nor‐
mal. When two bills are being considered concurrently and they're
dealing with the same act this can happen. The good thing is that
the officials catch it and tell us that, you've just done this on this
act... What was it? Bill S-221 or S-226...?

Mr. Stephen Burridge: It's Bill S-223.

Hon. Robert Oliphant: It's Bill S-223. I got my numbers mixed
up. Sometimes bills leapfrog each other, but I don't think it's that
unusual. I've had it five or six times in committee.

Mr. Dave Epp: I have one more question to the officials then. It
is very clear through G-1 that both foreign nationals and permanent
residents are deemed to be in scope of inadmissibility through the
provisions from Bill S-223. Is that correct?

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): This was a question for
the officials.

Is somebody preparing to answer?

Mr. Dave Epp: Basically, section 240.1 of the Criminal Code
will apply both to permanent residents and to foreign nationals, be‐
cause there was some confusion about one being removed and not
the other.

Mr. Scott Nesbitt: As for the (c.1) provision, it remains un‐
changed from as enacted in Bill S-223, so I believe it does apply to
permanent residents and foreign nationals, but the Bill S-8 inadmis‐
sibilities on sanctions only apply to foreign nationals.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Go ahead, Mr.
Brunelle-Duceppe.

[Translation]

Mr. Alexis Brunelle-Duceppe (Lac-Saint-Jean, BQ): To help
the interpreters, officials should move closer to the microphone
when they speak. It is sometimes difficult for the interpreters to do
their job well. I heard them say a few things to that effect.

Thank you.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you, Mr.
Brunelle-Duceppe. That's a good point.

[English]

The suggestion is to make sure you're close to the microphone
when you're speaking to aid the interpreters.

Is there further debate on proposed G-1?

Mr. Epp.

● (1110)

Mr. Dave Epp: I have a question for Mr. Oliphant.
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With the proposed deletion in G-1 of paragraph (c), which only
refers to permanent residents, is it the intention then to leave—I'm
getting confused now—foreign nationals...? Is the intention to al‐
low permanent residents who may have received an illegal organ
transplant not to be subject to the inadmissibility under Bill S-8?

Hon. Robert Oliphant: I remember hearing testimony to say
that this does not impact the organ transplant bill at all, so there's no
impact on what we've already done in that bill. Whatever was in
that bill is there, and this does not have any impact on that or
change it.

That's what I heard from experts. I'm not an expert on it, but I did
hear that.

Mr. Dave Epp: I'm not burdened with a legal education either.
Hon. Robert Oliphant: I do believe they're nodding.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): I'm sorry. We're letting

the normal process...but it's good that everyone's getting along.

Mr. Brunelle-Duceppe.
[Translation]

Mr. Alexis Brunelle-Duceppe: Mr. Chair, I would simply like to
know whether, at this committee, we need to ask the chair to speak
or if we can simply go ahead and do so.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Generally, yes. I'm new
in this position.
[English]

You can tell the chair that I was doing my best to uphold his
practices.

Is there further debate on G-1? I am seeing none.

(Amendment agreed to)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): As mentioned, CPC-1
will now not be moved.

(Clause 5 as amended agreed to)

(On clause 6)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): We now have clause 6.
I believe that Ms. McPherson has an amendment. Mr. Brunelle-
Duceppe has one as well, but we'll start with the one that's in the
package.

Go ahead, Ms. McPherson.
Ms. Heather McPherson: Thank you very much.

Before I move my amendment, I would ask that the chair give us
some time to consider the motion that I tried to bring forward at the
beginning of the meeting, my motion that is looking at peace in Is‐
rael and Palestine.

Would that be possible to do after clause-by-clause, Mr. Chair?
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Ms. McPherson, I'll

consult with the committee, after clause-by-clause, on what folks
want to do next and depending on time and resources. I'm happy to
pose the question to the committee at that point.

Ms. Heather McPherson: I think that's your decision to make,
so I'd like to know that because that will determine my next steps.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Ms. McPherson, I'll re‐
flect on that, but right now, if you'd like to move NDP-1 for discus‐
sion of that motion—

Ms. Heather McPherson: I can wait for you to reflect. I'd actu‐
ally like to know the answer to the question of whether or not you
would allow us to have that debate on that motion.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Ms. McPherson, is it
your intention to move NDP-1 or not?

Ms. Heather McPherson: I'm just asking if you could let me
know if you'd be willing to give the floor, if there is time at the end
of the meeting, so that we can debate the motion that I brought for‐
ward last Thursday and that I would like to bring forward today so
that the committee can make a decision on it.

I think, realistically, the reason that you said we couldn't do this
last week was that we had witnesses. We don't have witnesses the
same way today. We do have the time to do this. I don't think it
would take very long—really just a few minutes—to do a vote and
to have a bit of a discussion on it. That's what I would like to do.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Ms. McPherson, I'm
going to jump in.

Mr. Brunelle-Duceppe, would you like to move your amend‐
ment?

Hon. Robert Oliphant: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

I do believe that Ms. McPherson has the floor. I think you are
correct in saying that she could move her motion now but that you
would be not able to say whether or not it could happen later be‐
cause that depends on the meeting.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): I'm sorry—

Hon. Robert Oliphant: Am I correct? If she has the floor, she
can do anything she wants with it.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Mr. Oliphant, she has
the floor in the context of the consideration of clause 6. She is wel‐
come to move an amendment to clause 6 or to speak to clause 6,
but she cannot move another motion because it's an established
principle, the rules of the committee, that you can't have two mo‐
tions on the table at once. When clause 6 is being considered—

Ms. Heather McPherson: Then I will move to proceed to an‐
other order of business, please.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): —you can move dilato‐
ry motions, but you cannot move substantive motions.

I'll recognize Mr. Brunelle-Duceppe now.

Ms. Heather McPherson: As I have the floor, I would like to
move that we move to another order of business, please, Mr. Chair.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): I'd like to offer, maybe,
a little bit more explanation.
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For every committee meeting, an agenda is distributed, and we
seek to follow that agenda. When there's committee business sched‐
uled, members can move any motion without notice. If an item is
not on the agenda, if a motion is on notice, members may move that
item on notice when they have the floor, provided that there isn't
another item on the table for consideration.

We are under consideration of clause 6. I offered the floor to Ms.
McPherson for discussion on clause 6, but in light of the fact that
she is going far afield of the topic, I—
● (1115)

Ms. Heather McPherson: Mr. Chair, I was asking you a ques‐
tion, and it's very reasonable to ask a question of the chair. If you
would like me to go with my NDP-1, I'm more than happy to, but
your not responding to my question is inappropriate.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Ms. McPherson, we are
debating clause 6. This is Bill S‑8, and we're debating clause 6.
This isn't question period. I'm the chair of the committee—

Ms. Heather McPherson: I think you're very aware that we do
this very often in committee, Garnett. You're being a little unrea‐
sonable to be perfectly honest.

I'm happy to move my NDP‑1, and I would certainly hope that
you would be willing to let us debate the motion, because, as you
know, you've brought many motions forward during committee
meetings. It's not always during committee business.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): It's not up to me, but if
you're prepared to move NDP‑1.... Is that your intention to move
NDP‑1?

Ms. Heather McPherson: Certainly.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Okay. Ms. McPherson,

go ahead please.
Ms. Heather McPherson: NDP‑1 is an attempt to define “enti‐

ty” within the bill. We heard from a number of different experts that
they were concerned about it. Bill S‑8 proposes to establish a dis‐
tinct ground of inadmissibility based on sanctions, namely sanc‐
tions imposed on a “country, entity or person”.

As we heard from the Canadian Bar Association, the Refugee
Centre and other witnesses, they recommend removing the refer‐
ence to “country” because it is too far-reaching and the implications
on others would be too risky, and they would limit the sanctions to
an entity or person. They also recommended that “entity” be clearly
defined to exclude a country or foreign state.

We also want to ensure that the sanctions in this bill are defined
as many witnesses asked. The main concern was that “sanctions”
should not include economic measures imposed on a foreign state.
We believe that the removal of “country” from proposed section
35.1, which is the subject of this amendment, would accomplish
that. That's exactly why we're moving this particular amendment.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you, Ms.
McPherson.

I do want to advise that there was some discussion around the ad‐
missibility of this amendment. My view is that the amendment is
admissible, so we'll proceed on it. Of course, that's always subject

to a possible appeal to the Speaker if there are those who think I
made the wrong decision.

If this amendment is adopted, it will preclude the Bloc amend‐
ment, which was distributed this morning, from being moved.

I will now open the speakers list if there is further debate. I have
Mr. Brunelle-Duceppe and Mr. Oliphant. If any others want to
speak, please indicate that.

We'll start with Mr. Brunelle-Duceppe.

[Translation]

Mr. Alexis Brunelle-Duceppe: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I agree with the NDP's proposal, but, with respect, I think the
Bloc Québécois amendment is much more specific and comprehen‐
sive. I suggest that the Committee reject the NDP amendment and
accept the Bloc Québécois amendment.

I don't want to create a squabble either, but I think our amend‐
ment, which is much more specific, is along the same lines as the
NDP amendment. It does not change the spirit of the bill at all. If
the NDP's amendment is found to be in order, so is the Bloc
Québécois' amendment. I would argue that ours is more focused
and more precise. For this type of bill, it would be better to adopt
the Bloc Québécois amendment.

[English]

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you, Mr.
Brunelle-Duceppe.

Mr. Oliphant.

Hon. Robert Oliphant: First, I would like to hear, from the leg‐
islative clerks, his or her opinion on the admissibility of this
amendment. Then I would like to retain the floor and talk about it.
However, I'd like to hear their comments on whether or not they be‐
lieved and advised the chair that it was admissible or inadmissible,
based on their extensive experience as legislative clerks.

● (1120)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you, Mr.
Oliphant. I have no objection if the legislative clerk is comfortable
providing that.

Whatever you prefer....

Hon. Robert Oliphant: I think they are clerks to the committee,
Mr. Chair, and not to the chair.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): It's exactly the offer I
made.

Ms. Marie-Hélène Sauvé (Legislative Clerk): Thank you, Mr.
Chair.
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In analyzing this amendment, it seemed to us that the objective
of Bill S‑8 was to expand the scope of inadmissibility based on
sanctions to not just a country but also an entity or a person. This
amendment seeks to reduce the scope of inadmissibility, so in our
view, it went against the principle of the bill.

Hon. Robert Oliphant: I would agree with you. It's been ruled
by the chair as admissible, which I don't think is correct. However,
I won't challenge the chair on that. Your point is extremely impor‐
tant, because on this side, we won't be supporting either the NDP's
amendment on this section or the Bloc's. We actually think it does
change the bill and is contrary to the nature of the bill, which was
meant to expand the government's ability, Canada's ability, to keep
the bad people out. That's exactly what we're trying to do.

Bill S-8, if amended, would delete the reference to “country” in
the proposed new paragraph and would add the clarification that an
entity does not include a foreign state. The proposed amendment
would unduly limit the scope of inadmissibility provisions. It would
mean that, contrary to the provision that has been in place for the
last 20 years, foreign nationals would not be inadmissible if they
were subject to a travel ban, included as part of sanctions imposed
against a country. This would put Canada in breach of its obliga‐
tions to implement such sanctions, including travel restrictions im‐
posed by the United Nations.

We have strong legal concerns, which are coming from two de‐
partments, as well as a parliamentary concern coming from the leg‐
islative clerk that this changes the nature of the bill, so we would be
voting against this amendment. I believe if it were to fail, it would
probably negate the Bloc one as well—although I have never been
sure of that rule.

However, we want to keep Canada as safe as possible. We want
to limit admissibility when people have been sanctioned, and I
think this amendment is contrary to this.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you, Mr.
Oliphant.

Next, I have Ms. McPherson, followed by Mr. Brunelle-
Duceppe.

Ms. Heather McPherson: Thank you.

This is a response to Mr. Oliphant's comments. My concern is
that this is an amendment that is being brought forward by legal ex‐
perts to limit the potential for unintended harm. The Canadian Bar
Association, obviously, would have some pretty strong understand‐
ing of the legal requirements.

From my perspective, this is doing what we can to ensure that, as
you say, the bad guys don't come to Canada, but it's also giving us
protection so that we are not having unintended consequences on
those who are not guilty. It's providing more clarity, so there is
more understanding. That's my perspective on that.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you, Ms.
McPherson.

We'll now proceed to Mr. Brunelle-Duceppe.
[Translation]

Mr. Alexis Brunelle-Duceppe: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Many witnesses asked for clarification of certain terms, includ‐
ing "countries" and "entities," and in some cases even for the re‐
moval of the word "country." The latter term may be too broad a
reference, whereas "foreign state" is used in legislation related to
sanctions, such as the Special Economic Measures Act and the Jus‐
tice for Victims of Corrupt Foreign Officials Act, or Sergei Magnit‐
sky Act. The term "foreign state" is clearly defined in them.

I don't think anyone here questions the wording of the Sergei
Magnitsky Act. I even often hear members of all parties using it as
an example. If we want to be serious, I think we could build on
what is already defined in some legislation internationally, and even
domestically.

As far as we know, the word "entity" is also not defined in the
Immigration and Refugee Protection Act, whereas it is, as I've indi‐
cated, in various statutes dealing with sanctions. We are simply
adding more clarification without changing the essence of Bill S‑8.

My colleague Mr. Oliphant just gave a demonstration in his argu‐
ment, but I would be curious to know if he is able to explain the
difference between "country" and "foreign state." Perhaps that
would help us understand the Liberal point of view a bit. Right
now, I'm convinced that our proposal will really define things better
and only improve the bill, and, more importantly, make it more pre‐
cise.

In my opinion, the essence of the bill is not affected at all by
these amendments. I understand that we are still debating the NDP
amendment, but I am convinced that the Bloc Québécois amend‐
ment is more precise.

As I said with all due respect to Ms. McPherson, this is not a dis‐
avowal at all, but I think it is a good idea to clarify things because
the witnesses came to the Committee and explained that we needed
to do this. It is our role as parliamentarians to listen to what is being
said when the experts speak to us and to act accordingly when it
comes time to vote on amendments and subamendments.

● (1125)

[English]

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you very much.

We'll now proceed to Mr. Zuberi.

Mr. Sameer Zuberi (Pierrefonds—Dollard, Lib.): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

To the civil servants, first, I would like some clarity on NDP-1,
which is the amendment we're debating right now, in terms of what
impact it would have on the number of individuals who would be
admissible to Canada if we made this amendment.

Second, is with regard to the term “country”. Can you provide
some insight as to whether there is any interlocking with other leg‐
islative instruments, with the term “country” in particular?



6 FAAE-66 May 16, 2023

Mr. Richard St Marseille (Director General, Immigration
Policy and External Review, Canada Border Services Agency):
Thank you for the question.

With respect to the proposed amendment and the questions you
have raised, it's important to note that, in our view, there's a bit of
misinterpretation by some former witnesses. As pointed out by
some members of the committee, the reference to “country” has ex‐
isted in the Immigration and Refugee Protection Act for nearly 20
years now. It's not the case that we apply that inadmissibility to all
citizens or nationals of that country. That's just simply not the case.

In terms of the concrete reality, if you look at the United Nations
Security Council travel bans that Canada has agreed to impose,
where they list countries and individuals, there are 290 individuals
on that list of the United Nations Security Council. Since 2017, on‐
ly 10 have been refused entry to Canada. We've never interpreted it
as applying to all nationals of a country.

The amendment as proposed would actually narrow the inadmis‐
sibility that currently exists in the Immigration and Refugee Protec‐
tion Act. That's the answer to one of your questions.

With respect to definitions, sanctions inadmissibility in the IRPA
is directly referenced by the other statutes. These are the Special
Economic Measures Act, for instance, or the Justice for Victims of
Corrupt Foreign Officials Act. Under IRPA, we do not apply any
different definitions to those terms. It's what's in those other acts
that results in someone being sanctioned, and then by operation of
law, more or less, they are found inadmissible if they choose to
come to Canada and their admissibility is assessed.

I hope that addresses your question.
Mr. Sameer Zuberi: It did. It provided a lot of clarity in our dis‐

cussion, I would say. Thank you.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you, Mr. Zuberi.

We'll now go to Mr. Sarai.
Mr. Randeep Sarai (Surrey Centre, Lib.): Mr. Zuberi asked

my question, so I'm okay. Thank you.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you.

Next we'll have Mr. Epp.
Mr. Dave Epp: Thank you.

We took a look at the very same issue. We took a look at poten‐
tially.... One of the criticisms we heard was defining the word “enti‐
ty”. I think that's the other thing that we're trying to get at. We took
a look at adding it to the IRPA at the beginning and then allowing
the clause in this section, “entity does not include a foreign state”
as referring only to section 35.

Can you comment on whether that's the better route to go: to de‐
fine “entity” within the IRPA as it is defined in SEMA? I think that
is what we're trying to get to. We're all on the same page, I think.
We're just trying to figure out how we get there.

Then we'd be excluding “entity”, specifically within section 35,
as defined in Bill S-8.

Mr. Richard St Marseille: Thank you for the question.

With respect to definitions, it's important that it's not only about
the Special Economic Measures Act. If you look at paragraph 35(1)
(c) of the IRPA as it exists today, it doesn't actually limit the impo‐
sition of sanctions to that one act. For instance, there's also the
United Nations Act, which is used to impose some United Nations
Security Council sanctions and travel bans.

If you're looking at definitional requirements, it's best to place
those, in our view, in the statutes that have the authorities to gener‐
ate those sanctions to begin with, and not in the Immigration and
Refugee Protection Act.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Mr. Epp, do you have
further questions, or have you finished with your time?

Thank you.

We'll go to Ms. McPherson.

● (1130)

Ms. Heather McPherson: Mr. Chair, I don't have my hand up.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): I'm sorry. It was up ear‐
lier.

Are there any others wishing to speak on this?

Go ahead, Mr. Oliphant.

Hon. Robert Oliphant: I would just give a “thank you” to the
officials. On technical issues like this, their advice is very important
to be followed. I don't think it's partisan advice. I think it's really
making sure that our legislation is clear and in line with our UN
obligations, which they know far better than I do.

Thank you.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you, Mr.
Oliphant.

Go ahead, Mr. Brunelle-Duceppe.

[Translation]

Mr. Alexis Brunelle-Duceppe: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I have a question for the officials.

What is the definition of the word « country » in the Immigration
and Refugee Protection Act?

[English]

Mr. Richard St Marseille: Thank you for the question.

There is no definition of “country” in the Immigration and
Refugee Protection Act. That's one point.



May 16, 2023 FAAE-66 7

That in and of itself doesn't affect the administration of the inad‐
missibility provisions, however, because the sanction is imposed by
the Governor in Council or whatever instrument is provided in
those other statutes, for instance, the Special Economic Measures
Act or the United Nations Act.

For immigration purposes, there is no different definition from
what is provided in the statute that allows the government to im‐
pose the sanction in the first place. There is no definition, but we
also don't apply any definitions, either.
[Translation]

Mr. Alexis Brunelle-Duceppe: In that case, it would be a good
idea to use the expression "foreign state" like we are proposing, as
that would clarify things for many people. This is not a partisan de‐
bate and we are trying to do the best job we can.

We think using the expression "foreign state" is the right way to
go. That is why I think the Bloc amendment is better than the NDP
amendment. Our amendment makes it clearer by using the term
"foreign state," whereas the NDP amendment eliminates the refer‐
ence to a state.

Don't you think this is the right thing to do?
[English]

Mr. Richard St Marseille: I will make one comment, and then,
if I may, Mr. Chair, turn to my colleague, Scott Nesbitt.

With respect to the definitional issues, the one thing that is very
important to note is that any time there's a definition in the Immi‐
gration and Refugee Protection Act that doesn't perfectly align with
the enabling sanction-imposing statute, you have imposed a new
test for immigration officials to apply, which somewhat undermines
the intent of this bill.

The intent of this bill is to align sanctions-issuing provisions with
immigration inadmissibility-issuing provisions. If you impose any
definitional issues, or any definitions that don't perfectly mirror
those statutes, you're introducing greater complexity and an extra
administrative decision for immigration officials, which wouldn't
be the case if the definitions perfectly aligned amongst all of those
statutes.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): The general practice we
follow during clause-by-clause is that members retain the floor
even as they are asking questions to officials, so they don't need to
come back.

Are you finished, though, for the moment, or do you have more
questions?
[Translation]

Mr. Alexis Brunelle-Duceppe: I've finished. Thank you, that's
considerate. It was a reflex, I'm a polite person, Mr. Chair.
[English]

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you.

Mr. Zuberi is next.
Mr. Sameer Zuberi: Very briefly, and I don't want to extend this

discussion. Essentially, the term “country”, even if it's not defined
in the legislation in question, still has a concrete definition that is

well-worn, recognized and understood by any engagement with the
legislation, as you said, over the last 20 years. Is that correct?

Mr. Richard St Marseille: Yes. Do you want to take this ques‐
tion, Scott?

Mr. Scott Nesbitt: Yes, that's a very fair point. There is no ex‐
pressed definition in the act, but as with any legislation, a term is
going to be interpreted, having regard to its purpose and context.

The purpose and context here is all about implementing multilat‐
eral sanctions, primarily United Nations Security Council resolu‐
tions. To be clear, there are 15 United Nations Security Council res‐
olutions right now that impose sanctions. Of those 15, it's absolute‐
ly crystal clear that 11 of them are sanctions against countries.
There's no doubt that those 11 sanctions are imposed against coun‐
tries and, thus, would trigger paragraph 35(1)(c) as it currently ex‐
ists, or proposed paragraph 35.1(1)(a) as it would be amended by
Bill S-8.

Mr. Sameer Zuberi: Is there no ambiguity, from your perspec‐
tive, with the term “country?”

Mr. Scott Nesbitt: No, not as it's used.

Mr. Sameer Zuberi: Thank you.

● (1135)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you.

Next, I have Ms. McPherson.

Ms. Heather McPherson: I prefer the Bloc amendment, as well,
so I will withdraw NDP-1.

Some of the context I have here is.... I recognize it's a new test. I
recognize there is the ability for folks to interpret how this is identi‐
fied. Having clarity and context makes sense, but I will withdraw
NDP-1. Perhaps we can vote on the Bloc amendment. It seems un‐
likely to pass, but we should go through the process.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you, Ms.
McPherson.

As a matter of process, once something's on the table, it belongs
to the entire committee.

Is there unanimous consent to withdraw the proposed amend‐
ment?

There's no unanimous consent, so we will proceed.

I have Mr. Epp next on the speakers list. This is still speaking to
NDP-1.

Mr. Dave Epp: Yes, that's correct.

In listening to your explanation, is it clear then that no individu‐
als have been deemed inadmissible on the basis of sanctions purely
because of their affiliation to a country or foreign state? Is it always
tied to an additional test as outlined by IRPA?

Mr. Richard St Marseille: Yes. That's absolutely the case.
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Mr. Scott Nesbitt: I would like to just briefly explain. The way
UN sanctions work is that they are imposed against a country as the
target to try to change that country's behaviour. However, when a
travel ban is imposed, individuals are always listed by the commit‐
tee responsible for that United Nations Security Council resolution,
so it designates particular individuals who are subject to the travel
ban as part of the overall sanctions against a country as a whole.

For example, sanctions against North Korea were imposed by the
UN in 2006. There are 80 individuals who have been designated.
It's only those 80 individuals who are inadmissible under this provi‐
sion. The most recent UN sanctions are against Haiti. Only one per‐
son has been designated. It's only that one person from Haiti who is
inadmissible under this provision.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you.

Are there any other members who wish to speak to this?

Ms. McPherson, your hand is still up. Is that residual? Okay.

We can now proceed to a vote. Is there a desire for a recorded
vote?

Hon. Robert Oliphant: I'd like a recorded vote.

(Amendment negatived: nays 10; yeas 0 [See Minutes of Pro‐
ceedings])

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): The amendment is de‐
feated and there is now an opportunity for Mr. Brunelle-Duceppe to
move his amendment.

Go ahead, please.
[Translation]

Mr. Alexis Brunelle-Duceppe: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

During the debate on the NDP amendment, I was in fact debating
the amendment that we put forward. We've looked at it from every
angle.

Everybody knows the reasons why we moved it today. I thank
the officials for their comments. Now, the parties need to take a po‐
sition on this amendment, because we already discussed it during
the debate on NDP-1. We should move to a vote right now and then
move forward with the rest of the bill.

Thank you.
[English]

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you, Mr.
Brunelle-Duceppe.

Are there members wishing to debate this amendment?

Mr. Zuberi.
Mr. Sameer Zuberi: Just on the first point, I want to highlight

what you mentioned earlier in terms of a foreign entity. That will
add on a new layered test.

We just had a conversation around country and how that's been
tried, tested and true as a term and a concept, but the foreign state
concept isn't tried, tested and true in the same way. It would require
a whole set of rethinking with respect to the legislation. Is that cor‐
rect?

Mr. Richard St Marseille: In principle, it's a similar scenario.
As I mentioned before, the multilateral sanctions under paragraph
35(1)(c) of the IRPA, which reference country and individual, can
be imposed under the Special Economic Measures Act, in addition
to the United Nations Act and any other act that allows Canada to
act in concert with an association of states.

By importing a definition from only the Special Economic Mea‐
sures Act and not ensuring that same definition applies in all of the
other sanctions-issuing legislation, it creates additional complexity
and additional tests. It could create a lack of coordination from an
inadmissibility perspective, rather than a coordinating effect as in‐
tended by the proposed amendment.

● (1140)

Mr. Sameer Zuberi: Understood. It won't necessarily, but it
could.

On the second point, with respect to the amendment in terms of
part (b), it says, “by adding after line 19 on page 3 the following:”
and then it has this quote.

Can you comment on that part of the amendment and what the
ramifications are of that?

Mr. Richard St Marseille: Thank you for your question.

With respect to that particular amendment, we noted preliminari‐
ly that it is already missing an element that is in the Special Eco‐
nomic Measures Act. There is a reference to “organization” that is
missing, which is actually quite important for the effectiveness of
the sanction.

It would create a disharmony between the two statutes, if adopt‐
ed.

Mr. Sameer Zuberi: Can you elaborate further on the organiza‐
tion piece of its not being there?

Mr. Richard St Marseille: It's missing from this definition. It's
an element that's missing from the proposed definition here. It's in
the sanctions-issuing statute.

Mr. Scott Nesbitt: I'll just add that the minister explained one of
the reasons why the word “entity” was being added to Bill S-8. The
intent behind that is to make sure that multilateral sanctions direct‐
ed against non-state actors—groups such as the Taliban, Daesh,
ISIL or al Qaeda—are covered by the new proposed paragraph
35.1(1)(a).

The term “entity” was deliberately not defined so that it would
be interpreted broadly enough to capture those organizations how‐
ever they are characterized. The fact that, here, the term “entity” is
being defined in a way that references or seems to draw from the
Special Economic Measures Act definition of “entity” but doesn't
include the term “organization”—which is in that other act as well
as the Magnitsky act—suggests that maybe it would not cover the
very groups that this amendment was intended to cover.

That is the concern.

Mr. Sameer Zuberi: Thank you.
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The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Next up we have Mr.
Brunelle-Duceppe, Mr. Oliphant and then Mr. Epp. We'll proceed in
that order.
[Translation]

Mr. Alexis Brunelle-Duceppe: Thank you for the clarifications.
You are right. Unfortunately, the second part was badly drafted. I
cannot introduce a sub-amendment to amend my amendment, but if
someone else wants to do it, that would be great. We should keep
the first part and delete the second part. Officials have rightly point‐
ed out that the second part is badly drafted.

Thank you.
[English]

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you, Mr.
Brunelle-Duceppe.

We'll now go to Mr. Oliphant.
Hon. Robert Oliphant: I am going to make a subamendment

actually. That's exactly what I'd like to do. We actually have no
problem with part (a) of the amendment—sanctions on a person,
entity or foreign state. We can live with that. However, part (b) we
would like to strike from the amendment, the part about “after line
19”. The subamendment is to strike the (b) section of that amend‐
ment.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Since Mr. Epp had been
up to speak on the amendment, I'll just ask if there's anybody—Mr.
Epp or otherwise—who wants to speak to the subamendment. If
not, we'll proceed to a vote on that. Is there a need for recorded di‐
vision, or are we agreed to adopt the subamendment?

(Subamendment agreed to)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Now that we're back to
debate on the main amendment, we'll go to Mr. Epp and then to Mr.
Oliphant.

Mr. Dave Epp: I have a question for the officials. I'd like to get
back to the definition of “entity”. I hear you about the problem be‐
ing not only with SEMA but also with the UN sanctions. Is this the
first time that “entity” is going to be defined in legislation? Is it de‐
fined nowhere else, be it IRPA, SEMA...?

Hon. Robert Oliphant: I have a point of order. I think that part
of the amendment has been defeated.
● (1145)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): While true, that's not a
point of order. We're on part (a).

Can I make a suggestion? This is an amendment we received to‐
day, and I think people are getting some new information. Can I
suggest a brief suspension to facilitate some discussion about the
remaining provision?

Hon. Robert Oliphant: This is really a point of order to clarify
that the subamendment—

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): The subamendment has
been adopted.

Hon. Robert Oliphant: It's been adopted, so part (b), which is
on the definition of “entity”, has been struck.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): That is correct.
Hon. Robert Oliphant: The reason I raised a point of order was

relevance, because Mr. Epp was talking about “entity”, which I
think is gone. I think where we are now is on part (a). My sense is
that we may have a consensus on part (a). We may be able to live
with that without a suspension.

I just want to ask the officials if there are any unintended conse‐
quences that we as parliamentarians don't know about.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): I will give you the floor
to ask that question, even though you didn't have it. We'll go to you
and then we can determine after that whether a suspension is neces‐
sary.

Hon. Robert Oliphant: Are there any unintended consequences
of changing “country” to “foreign state”? We've reversed the order
of them to “entity or person”. Essentially the change is to change
“country” to “foreign state”. I know it's not in concordance with the
other acts, but is there anything you think we're making a mistake
on by doing that?

Mr. Richard St Marseille: Thank you for your question.

In our view, “foreign state” includes “country”, so there is no un‐
intended consequence with that.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Mr. Epp, go ahead.
Mr. Dave Epp: I will request a short suspension.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): I think it's generally ad‐

visable to allow these things during clause-by-clause, but we can
limit it to five minutes. It will be a real five minutes.

The meeting is suspended.
● (1145)

_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1150)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Colleagues, we have re‐
sumed.

Is there further debate on the amendment as subamended?

Mr. Oliphant.
Hon. Robert Oliphant: We would be in favour of part (a) of the

now existing amendment. That's all.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Is there any further de‐

bate?

(Amendment as amended agreed to [See Minutes of Proceed‐
ings])

(Clause 6 as amended agreed to)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): If there is agreement
from the committee, we will deal with clauses 7 through 22 all at
once.

Is there any objection to proceeding in this fashion? I am seeing
none.

(Clauses 7 to 22 inclusive agreed to)
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The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Amendment NDP-2 can
now be moved.

Ms. McPherson, go ahead, please.
Ms. Heather McPherson: Thank you.

The reason we're bringing forward NDP-2 is that it sets a legisla‐
tive review of the bill after three years. We did hear from a number
of witnesses at this committee—the Canadian Bar Association, the
Refugee Centre, the Bellissimo Law Group—who had concerns
with how this legislation may affect innocent people, including
refugee claimants. I think it's important that we have an opportunity
to do a legislative review of this to deal with any negative conse‐
quences that may unintentionally come as a result of this bill and to
make sure that those are addressed and remedied.

Basically, it's a simple amendment. We're just asking that there
be a legislative review.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you, Ms.
McPherson.

Go ahead, Mr. Oliphant.
Hon. Robert Oliphant: If this is placing a burden only on my

successor, I am very happy to support it.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): I'm glad to know you're

so pessimistic about the upcoming election, Mr. Oliphant.
Hon. Robert Oliphant: It's many years away. You won't get rid

of me easily.

Voices: Oh, oh!
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Is there further debate

on the amendment?
● (1155)

Mr. Dave Epp: Is it specifically on the amendment or Mr.
Oliphant's future?

The amendment we can support.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): We'll stay on topic-ish.

I know I deviated a little bit there.

Shall amendment NDP-2 carry?

(Amendment agreed to [See Minutes of Proceedings])

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Shall clause 23 carry?

Some hon. members: Agreed.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Shall the title carry?

Some hon. members: Agreed.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Shall the bill as amend‐
ed carry?

Some hon. members: Agreed.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Shall the chair report
the bill as amended to the House?

Some hon. members: Agreed.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): At this point, we don't
have any other items on the agenda, so I'll put the question back to
the committee. If there's a desire on the part of the committee, there
are a number of items that I know members have expressed interest
in dealing with. We can deal with those, or we can adjourn.

I would like to either adjourn or suspend so that we can give the
officials time to step away. Perhaps we could do a quick straw poll
and ask which members are interested in adjourning.

I'm not seeing any hands, but I think I have a majority of the
committee indicating that they would prefer to adjourn. Is that...?

Hon. Robert Oliphant: Can we suspend rather than adjourning?
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Could we suspend and

discuss adjourning...?
Ms. Heather McPherson: I would want to have a vote on ad‐

journing.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Okay.

Let's take a vote on adjourning. If there is not agreement to ad‐
journ, then we will suspend.

Do you have a point of order, Mr. Brunelle-Duceppe?
[Translation]

Mr. Alexis Brunelle-Duceppe: I have a question, Mr. Chair. As
you know, I am not an expert in procedure.

Are you suggesting we take a five-minute break so the officials
can leave, or do you want to adjourn the meeting?
[English]

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Mr. Brunelle-Duceppe,
I'm offering the committee the option. As you know, adjournment is
not something that the chair is supposed to do of their own will.
Adjournment is dependent on the will of the committee. There was
nothing else on the agenda besides Bill S-8, but we certainly have
the option to deal with other matters.

I'm putting the question back to the committee. I got the sense
that there was a desire to have a vote on the question of adjourn‐
ment.

Ms. Heather McPherson: I would rather have us just continue
on and certainly not adjourn.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): I have Mr. Brunelle-
Duceppe on a point of order.
[Translation]

Mr. Alexis Brunelle-Duceppe: Mr. Chair, it is clear that Ms.
McPherson had a motion she would like to discuss. Don't we also
have to vote on some budgets?

We have the room and resources at our disposal for two hours.
Taxpayers will pay the same amount whether we leave now or stay.
I think they would rather have us stay and do our job.
[English]

Mr. Sameer Zuberi: I have a point of order.

I would like to ask, Mr. Chair, if you would you dismiss the wit‐
nesses so we can continue with our discussion.
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The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Is it the will of the ma‐
jority of the committee that we—

This was the question I wanted to ask because as the chair, I'm
not trying to make the decision myself. I'd like to know if....

Either way, we should suspend to dismiss the officials.

Is it the desire of the committee to adjourn now or to suspend?
Ms. Heather McPherson: We don't need to suspend. We don't

always suspend.
Mr. Sameer Zuberi: We've never suspended in the past to dis‐

miss officials. It's always been done in the midst of a meeting. This
would be the first time that it ever happened in this committee.

I'm suggesting that you simply—
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): I'm not seeing a consen‐

sus, so I will suspend for a couple of minutes—
Ms. Heather McPherson: I don't think we need to suspend.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): I think maybe there will

be some discussion. There are certain matters we need to deal with
in camera as well, so we'll suspend and resume in camera.

[Proceedings continue in camera]
● (1155)

_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1230)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Colleagues, we're re‐
suming in public.

I don't know that I said this in the confusion at the end, but I do
want to say thank you to the officials for their testimony. I'm very
pleased that we were able to get through Bill S-8 so quickly.

I think there's a desire now for the committee to have some dis‐
cussion on other matters.

I see that Ms. McPherson has her hand raised.

Go ahead, Ms. McPherson. You now have the floor.
Ms. Heather McPherson: Thank you very much.

I would like to move my motion, which was sent on April 20,
that I moved last week and that the debate was adjourned on.

That motion is as follows:
That, pursuant to Standing Order 108(2), and in light of recent events in Israel
and Palestine, the committee conduct a study on the actions Canada should
take—

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): I'm sorry, Ms. McPher‐
son. As a point of order, that motion has been moved. It can't be
moved again. You can move that the committee resume considera‐
tion on it. It is a dilatory motion, so we'll go directly to a vote.

Ms. Heather McPherson: I would like to do that.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): You're moving that the
debate on the motion be resumed. Is there a need for a vote?

Ms. Heather McPherson: Yes, and I would like to actually read
the motion for those who are watching—

● (1235)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): That's fine.

Ms. Heather McPherson: —and also so that the members of
our committee can hear it.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): No problem. Go for it.

Ms. Heather McPherson: I'll read the whole motion:

That, pursuant to Standing Order 108(2), and in light of recent events in Israel
and Palestine, the committee conduct a study on the actions Canada should take
to foster peace and respect for human rights and international law in the region;
that the study consist of at least eight meetings; that the Minister of Foreign Af‐
fairs be invited to appear and that the committee invite witnesses from Canadian
civil society, international humanitarian organizations, and Israeli and Palestini‐
an human rights organizations; that the committee report its findings to the
House, and that pursuant to Standing Order 109 the government table a compre‐
hensive response to the report.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): We are proceeding di‐
rectly to a vote on the motion about whether or not to resume con‐
sideration of that motion.

Is there a desire for a recorded vote, or is there a will to proceed?

(Motion agreed to)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): We are now back in de‐
bate on Ms. McPherson's motion.

Do I have members wishing to speak to this motion?

Go ahead, Mr. Oliphant.

Hon. Robert Oliphant: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I want to begin with a few comments. Then, I will let the com‐
mittee know that I will be introducing a first amendment to be con‐
sidered, after which I will have a second amendment.

I will begin by saying that Canada is a steadfast ally and friend
of Israel and a friend of the Palestinian people. I think our position
as Canada and the Canadian government is long-standing and has
been clear. It has been the position of successive governments. We
are committed to the goal of a comprehensive, just and lasting
peace in the Middle East, including the creation of a Palestinian
state living side by side in peace and security with Israel.
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We recognize Israel's right to assure its own security and to pro‐
tect its citizens from attacks by terrorist groups in accordance with
humanitarian rights and international humanitarian law, and we rec‐
ognize the Palestinian right to self-determination. Canada also be‐
lieves in upholding the rule of law and democracy and in defending
the institutions that underpin them. We strongly oppose any unilat‐
eral actions that undermine the rule of law and jeopardize interna‐
tional efforts towards lasting peace, and support all efforts towards
a two-state solution. We will always support the Israeli and Pales‐
tinian peoples in their right to live in peace and security with digni‐
ty and without fear.

We agree that a study of the region could be a constructive way
to evaluate this work, discuss best practices with civil society part‐
ners and assess areas through which we can further collaborate to
address issues on the ground. However, in order to be productive,
the study must be fact-based and conducted without bias or any
prejudged conclusions.

As such, the NDP resolution right now, as it has been drafted and
as it is being framed publicly, while very well-intentioned, we don't
believe sets the stage for such a study. Therefore, we will put for‐
ward a couple of amendments to help us move this issue forward in
the spirit of co-operation and collaboration, with the shared goal in
mind of best supporting Israeli and Palestinian peoples.

That being said, I would move my first amendment. The first line
of the motion begins as follows: “That, pursuant to Standing Order
108(2), and in light of recent events in Israel and Palestine, the
committee”. I would replace “Israel and Palestine” with “Israel, the
West Bank and Gaza”.

We think that statement would better represent Canada's position,
long held by successive governments, on our understanding of the
area as being Israel, the West Bank and Gaza.

That would be my first amendment.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you, Mr.

Oliphant.

Has the amendment been distributed or sent in writing?

Okay, that is not required. It can still be moved verbally. I just
want to make sure that every member understands what the amend‐
ment is and that it's clear in both languages. It's not that complicat‐
ed.

Is any clarity required?

We're in debate on the amendment then.

Ms. McPherson, go ahead please.
Ms. Heather McPherson: Thank you.

Obviously, I have some concerns with the use of the words
“West Bank and Gaza” instead of “Palestine” or “occupied Pales‐
tinian territory”. I think it's clear that the United Nations uses the
term “occupied Palestinian territory”. Many Palestinians have told
me that they have expressed that there is a feeling among the Pales‐
tinian community that this government is trying to erase their reali‐
ty and erase the reality of the Palestinian people. I think it's impor‐

tant that we use accurate language and that the “Palestinian people”
or the “occupied Palestinian territory” be used instead.

That said, I think this is a vitally important study. I think we will
be bringing forward witnesses who will speak about the reality of
people both in Israel and Palestine. I think the fact that this foreign
affairs committee has not studied this for many years, if not
decades, and that Canada does have an important role to play.... The
attacks on Israeli and Palestinian civilians, particularly on children,
is so appalling that, as a foreign affairs committee, we have an obli‐
gation to look at this.

While I am concerned by that amendment, I think it is more im‐
portant for us to get the study and get the witnesses to this commit‐
tee to talk about what Canada can do to ensure peace in the region.

● (1240)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Are there other mem‐
bers wishing to speak to the amendment?

Seeing none, is it the wish of the committee for the amendment
to carry?

(Amendment agreed to)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): We're back to debate on
the main motion.

Mr. Oliphant.
Hon. Robert Oliphant: I have a second amendment. This has a

few small changes to the wording of the motion.

In the second line where it says, “actions Canada should take to
foster peace”, I would insert the words “protect civilians, combat
terrorism and uphold respect for human rights”. That is the first
part.

I had intended to do all four of these at once, but it may be fairer
to the committee to do them one at a time. I'll just do that one right
now. I was going to do them all, but I think....

As I was saying, I'm just inserting the words, after “foster
peace”, it's “protect civilians, combat terrorism and uphold respect
for human rights”.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Just to clarify, the text
continues as is?

Hon. Robert Oliphant: I have a couple more amendments.

Unless you want them all at once.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): No. That's the amend‐

ment you're moving for now. Fair enough.

Since we're proceeding verbally, is clarity required for any mem‐
ber about what is being proposed? Is it well understood what's be‐
ing proposed?

Okay, we'll now proceed to debate on the amendment. Are there
members wishing to speak to the amendment?

Seeing none, we'll proceed to a vote on the amendment.
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(Amendment agreed to)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Now we'll proceed to
resume debate.

Mr. Oliphant.
Hon. Robert Oliphant: I have another amendment. It's “that the

study consist of at least four meetings” rather than “eight meet‐
ings”. We're not putting a maximum on it, but a minimum of four
meetings.

We just worry that our agenda is so long that eight meetings
could be a whole season the way things work around here.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you, Mr.
Oliphant.

I assume that's well understood.

Ms. McPherson, go ahead.
Ms. Heather McPherson: Thank you.

I would prefer the eight meetings. One of the things I thought
might be a good compromise is that we could look at this study
throughout. We could come to it and move on to the other things
that are on our agenda. Then we could come back to it multiple
times, similar to what we are doing with regard to the study in
Ukraine. I think the eight meetings is better, considering how long
it's been since we've actually done a study of this region and con‐
sidering just how important what we're seeing happening in the re‐
gion is.

I do think that eight is a reasonable number. That said, again, I
will be supporting the will of the committee because I think it's just
so important that we get this forward. I think the idea that we can
then have more meetings as needed once we start looking at this
very important topic would be useful.

Thank you.
● (1245)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Are there any other
members wishing to speak to this amendment?

Okay, we'll proceed to a vote.

(Amendment agreed to)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Now we'll go back to
the main motion.

Hon. Robert Oliphant: I have another amendment. It's that we
replace “the Minister of Foreign Affairs” with “relevant ministers”.
Being that there are issues here of development, of defence and of
international trade, there are many ministers the committee may
want to call. We think it's best to say “relevant ministers” as op‐
posed to just one.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Mr. Brunelle-Duceppe.
[Translation]

Mr. Alexis Brunelle-Duceppe: I'd like to propose a compro‐
mise. We could say « the relevant ministers, including the Minister
of Foreign Affairs.» That way, the relevant ministers would be in‐

cluded, but we would make sure that theMinister of Foreign Affairs
will appear. I think that's reasonable.
[English]

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Procedurally, Mr.
Brunelle-Duceppe, are you proposing a subamendment to that ef‐
fect?
[Translation]

Mr. Alexis Brunelle-Duceppe: It's a question I have for my col‐
league Mr. Oliphant before anything else is tabled. I would ask him
if that's acceptable.
[English]

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Mr. Oliphant, go ahead.
Hon. Robert Oliphant: Mr. Chair, we would prefer “relevant

ministers” to not create a hierarchy of ministers on the topic.
[Translation]

Mr. Alexis Brunelle-Duceppe: That's fine. I won't take it any
further.
[English]

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Are there others wish‐
ing to...?

Mr. Brunelle-Duceppe, go ahead.
[Translation]

Mr. Alexis Brunelle-Duceppe: I have no further questions, Mr.
Chair.
[English]

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Are there any other
members wishing to speak to this amendment?

Seeing none, shall the amendment carry?

(Amendment agreed to)
Hon. Robert Oliphant: I have one last one.

This relates to the second-last part of this motion. Where it says
“and that the committee invite witnesses from Canadian civil soci‐
ety, international humanitarian organizations,” we would replace
the “and” that follows with “as well as Israeli and Palestinian hu‐
man rights organizations and peacebuilding organizations”. One is
sort of grammatical—“as well as Israeli and Palestinian human
rights organizations”, and then we would add “and peacebuilding
organizations”.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): For my own clarity, I'll
start a little bit earlier to make sure I see how it reads: “that the
committee invite witnesses from Canadian civil society, interna‐
tional humanitarian organizations, as well as Israeli and Palestinian
human rights organizations and peacebuilding organizations; that
the committee report its findings to the House”. That would be how
it would read once revised.

Okay, that's the proposed amendment. Are there members wish‐
ing to debate the amendment?

(Amendment agreed to)
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The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): We will now proceed to
debate on the main motion if there are other amendments or com‐
ments.

Are there other members wishing to speak to the main motion?

We will now proceed to a vote on the main motion.
Hon. Hedy Fry (Vancouver Centre, Lib.): It's on the main mo‐

tion as amended.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): I'm sorry, Mr. Chong.

Go ahead. Did you ask for a recorded vote?
Hon. Michael Chong (Wellington—Halton Hills, CPC): Yes,

please.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): We'll proceed to a

recorded vote, then.

(Motion as amended agreed to: yeas 6; nays 3 [See Minutes of
Proceedings])

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you, colleagues.

We'll now proceed to Mr. Epp.
● (1250)

Mr. Dave Epp: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Given that we have a bit more time yet with much business and
work to do, we have a notice on a motion that I would like to move
at this time.
[Translation]

Mr. Alexis Brunelle-Duceppe: Mr. Chair, I have a point of or‐
der.

I saw that you saw me raise my hand before Mr. Epp did. I saw
you text your friend to give him the floor. He raised his hand after I
did, so it's my turn to speak first.

We need to do things properly.
[English]

Mr. Dave Epp: Mr. Chair, do I have the floor?

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): I can just say, col‐
leagues, that it's up to the chair to recognize members.

Mr. Epp had indicated to me previously. He has the floor.

Is there a point of order? No.

Go ahead, Mr. Epp.
Mr. Dave Epp: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

As the motion is on notice, I would like to move it at this time. It
is:

That, as part of its study of the Russian invasion of Ukraine, the committee
study and report to the House on how Canada can support its allies who are af‐
fected by resources access challenges stemming from the invasion and steps that
the Government of Canada should take to respond to these challenges and that
the committee complete consideration of the motion before the meeting is ad‐
journed.

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): Thank you.

You're moving a motion.
Mr. Dave Epp: That's correct.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): That's a different mo‐

tion from what was on notice. It's a resumption motion with a con‐
dition. That's not dilatory. It's substantive.

We're now into debate on the motion that Mr. Epp has moved.
Could that be distributed to members?

Are there any members wishing to speak to that motion?

Mr. Oliphant, go ahead.
Hon. Robert Oliphant: Thank you for recognizing me.

I would move that we adjourn the meeting.
The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): That's dilatory, so we'll

proceed to a vote.

(Motion agreed to: yeas 7; nays 3)

The Vice-Chair (Mr. Garnett Genuis): The meeting is ad‐
journed.
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